

FACT SHEET

THE WORST OF THE WORST: HIGH-PRIORITY PLASTIC MATERIALS, CHEMICAL ADDITIVES, AND PRODUCTS TO PHASE OUT

Plastic waste is everywhere in the modern world. An estimated 242 million metric tons of it is generated globally every year, polluting our cities and our bodies and clogging the oceans, and the United States is one of the top generators.¹ Plastic pollution has been linked to everything from infertility and cancer in humans to severe injury and death in wildlife.² Front-line communities are being particularly impacted by toxic air and water pollutants emitted by plastic production and disposal facilities.³

Ninety-nine percent of all plastics are made from fossil fuels and contribute to toxic pollution throughout their life cycle.⁴ During use and recycling, or when discarded into the environment, plastics shed and break down into microplastics—tiny pieces less than 5 millimeters long—that are suspected to pose digestive, reproductive, and respiratory hazards.⁵ Many plastics can also leach harmful compounds into our food, water, and environment both during everyday use and at the end of their life.⁶ We will never put an end to the plastics crisis without reducing the amounts of plastic and toxic additives we put into the world. We should start by immediately phasing out the production and use of plastic polymers, chemical additives, and types of plastic products that pose the greatest hazards and/or are unnecessary. For uses or functions of plastic that are currently essential, we must transition to safer materials.⁷



Pieces of discarded plastic, including shopping bags, floating in the ocean.

For more information, please contact: Veena Singla vsingla@nrdc.org www.nrdc.org www.facebook.com/nrdc.org www.twitter.com/NRDC The types of plastics, additives, and products covered in this fact sheet have one or more of the following characteristics:

- They pose significant hazards to human health and the environment.
- They are difficult to recycle and/or interfere with mechanical recycling systems.
- They are unnecessary.

We should immediately phase out these high-priority targets.

Some of these materials, products, and additives have already been recognized as problematic and/or unnecessary by the international voluntary public-private initiative known as the Plastic Pact, which focuses on reducing plastic pollution from packaging (see Appendix).⁸ Companies that have signed on to regional Plastic Pacts commit to voluntarily eliminating the plastic products they consider problematic and/or unnecessary. While helpful, it should be noted that the Plastic Pact is heavily influenced by industry and has overlooked concerns related to plastic's health, toxicity, and life cycle impacts. The Pact is also voluntary, so there is little accountability when companies fail to meet their commitments, which consistently happens.⁹

Instead, we need binding policies at the international, federal, state, and local levels that require source reduction (producing and using less plastic), quickly phase out the most problematic forms of plastic, promote nontoxic reuse and refill systems, and ensure that all materials are safe and sustainable by design.

HIGH-PRIORITY PLASTIC POLYMERS

All plastics are polymers—that is, their chemical structure is made of repeating units, called monomers, like beads on a necklace. The high-priority polymers identified here are made of particularly toxic monomers, are not safely and readily recyclable, and some have additional concerns. The toxicity issues detailed below are inherent to these chemistries, whether they are made from fossil-fuel or biobased feedstocks. For example, bio-based polyvinyl chloride poses the same toxicity concerns as polyvinyl chloride made from fossil fuels.

Polyvinyl chloride and polyvinylidene chloride

About: Polyvinyl chloride (PVC), used in many products including packaging, flooring, and construction materials, is widely considered to have the most toxic life cycle of all plastics.¹⁰ A lesser-known but related compound called PVDC (polyvinylidene chloride) is frequently used as food-contact shrink wrap and in other packaging applications.¹¹

Concerns: PVC and PVDC are made from the monomer vinyl chloride, a known carcinogen linked to toxic effects in nearly every major organ system.¹² Both PVC and PVDC often contain toxic additives like phthalates (see chemical additives section, below). Highly toxic chemical compounds called dioxins are created when PVC and PVDC are produced or burned. The 2023 train derailment in East Palestine, Ohio, released and burned five rail cars' worth of vinyl chloride, with serious health and environmental impacts on the surrounding community.¹³ PVC is recognized as problematic/ unnecessary by Plastic Pacts in the United States, Chile, France, Kenya, Poland, Portugal, South Africa, and the United Kingdom; PVDC is similarly recognized by several Plastic Pacts, including the U.S. Pact.

Safely and readily recyclable? No.

Polystyrene

About: Polystyrene plastic can take many forms, including rigid polystyrene, extruded polystyrene foam (XPS), and expanded polystyrene foam (EPS). It is used to make packaging, single-use foodware (plates, cutlery, food containers, etc.), and insulation, as well as other products.

Concerns: All forms of polystyrene are made from the monomer styrene, which is a known carcinogen.¹⁴ EPS is one of the most common forms of plastic litter and causes significant wildlife impacts.¹⁵ It is recognized as problematic/unnecessary by Plastic Pacts in the United States, Chile, France, Kenya, Poland, Portugal, and the United Kingdom.

Safely and readily recyclable? No.





Bell peppers wrapped in unnecessary plastic at a supermarket.

Polycarbonate:

About: This hard plastic is used in 3D printing, as well as to make packaging, water bottles, foodware, building materials, and other goods.

Concerns: Polycarbonate is made from monomer bisphenol chemicals such as bisphenol A (BPA) or similar compounds. Bisphenols are hormone disruptors linked to infertility, cancer, diabetes, metabolic disorders, and other health effects.¹⁶

Safely and readily recyclable? No.

Polyurethanes:

About: These are used for many applications, including foam insulation, furniture cushions, coatings, sealants, and adhesives.

Concerns: Polyurethanes are made from monomers called diisocyanates (such as methylene diphenyl diisocyanate, or MDI), which are respiratory-tract sensitizers and the leading cause of work-related asthma.¹⁷ Diisocyanates are also skin and immune sensitizers, meaning that they can cause skin inflammation and other kinds of allergic responses.¹⁸

Safely and readily recyclable? No.

Melamine:

About: Melamine formaldehyde, often called simply melamine, is a resin (sometimes mixed with bamboo) that is used to make reusable foodware such as cups and plates, as well as flooring, laminated surface finishes, and foam insulation.

Concerns: Melamine is made from the monomer formaldehyde, a known carcinogen.¹⁹ The German government has found that formaldehyde can migrate from melamine tableware at levels of concern to human health.²⁰

Safely and readily recyclable? No.

HIGH-PRIORITY CONCERN: PFAS + PLASTIC

Toxic PFAS (per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances) are known as "forever chemicals" due to their tendency to remain in the environment for decades, centuries, or millennia. PFAS are associated with plastic in several ways (described below), all of which are of concern. PFAS are harmful even at ultralow levels and are linked with cancer, hormone disruption, liver and thyroid problems, interference with vaccine effectiveness, reproductive harm, and abnormal fetal development. They contaminate water, human bodies, and wildlife worldwide.²¹ PFAS compounds that are intentionally added to plastic packaging or used during its manufacture have been listed as problematic/unnecessary by the U.S. Plastic Pact.

All uses of PFAS in plastic are of high concern, including:

 PFAS processing aids: PFAS is used as a processing aid in plastic production, which can lead to PFAS emissions and contamination during the manufacturing process.²²

- **PFAS-based plastics:** Some plastics are actually forms of PFAS, including fluoropolymers and side-chain fluorinated polymers. PFAS-based plastics are used in many applications including nonstick cookware, clothing, building materials, and personal-care products and are not safely or readily recyclable. Manufacturing them creates toxic PFAS pollution and can also emit climate superpollutants (greenhouse gases with hundreds to thousands of times the heat-trapping power of carbon dioxide) and ozone-destroying substances. For example, HCFC-22 (hydrochloroflurocarbon-22), a major feedstock chemical for certain fluoropolymers, is an ozone destroyer and potent greenhouse gas with 1,760 times the global warming potential of carbon dioxide.²³
- **Fluorinated plastics:** Some ordinary plastics—especially high-density polyethylene (HDPE) plastic packaging—are treated with fluorine gas to alter their material properties, such as permeability. Research by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and other laboratory testing have shown that the fluorination process creates toxic PFAS that can leach into the contents of fluorinated plastic containers.²⁴



Single use plastic condiment containers at a restaurant.

HIGH-PRIORITY PLASTIC PRODUCTS

Some products are of concern no matter what type of polymer or materials they are made of and regardless of whether they can be readily recycled. They are simply unnecessary and harmful and should not be produced or used.

Single-use plastics: Half of all plastic produced is for throwaway items like disposable or single-use cups, straws, and bags; yet plastic takes hundreds of years, and in some cases even longer, to fully degrade.²⁵ The production, use, and disposal of single-use plastics have well-documented impacts on human health, animal health, air, water, and climate.²⁶ A variety of single-use plastic products have been listed as problematic/unnecessary by Plastic Pacts in the United States, Chile, France, Kenya, Poland, Portugal, South Africa, and the United Kingdom.

- So-called "Oxo-degradable" plastics: This is a greenwashing term referring to plastics made with chemical additives said to help fragment them into tiny pieces. These pieces don't actually degrade but simply remain in the environment as microplastics.²⁷ And these plastics can interfere with recycling.²⁸ They are listed as problematic/unnecessary by Plastic Pacts in the United States, Kenya, Portugal, South Africa, and the United Kingdom.
- So-called "Biodegradable" plastics: Most consumers interpret *biodegradable* to mean that products will completely break down and return to nature in a reasonable time frame. However, in part because the term doesn't have a clear definition, plastics labeled as biodegradable often aren't.²⁹ In reality, plastic products claiming to be biodegradable may persist in the environment long enough to constitute litter, blight, and/or a danger to land-based and marine animals that may ingest or become entangled in these products.³⁰
- Intentionally added microplastics: Microplastics are commonly added to personal-care products, cleaning products, paints, polishes, and other goods. They get washed down the drain or weathered away and eventually end up in the environment.³¹ While all plastics eventually break down into microplastics, the intentional addition of microplastics is both unnecessary and problematic, especially given that alternatives are available. They are listed as problematic/unnecessary by the South Africa Plastic Pact.

HIGH-PRIORITY TOXIC CHEMICAL ADDITIVES USED IN PLASTIC

Many thousands of chemicals are commonly added to plastics to improve their physical properties.³² These additives are found in all types of polymers/materials and all types of products, including packaging, textiles, and building materials. The additives identified here are known toxic chemicals that present significant risks to human and environmental health. The toxicity concerns detailed below are inherent to these chemistries, whether they are made from fossil-fuel or bio-based feedstocks.

- **Ortho-phthalates:** Added as plasticizer chemicals to make plastic softer or more flexible, ortho-phthalate chemicals are linked to a wide range of health effects including developmental and reproductive problems, cancer, obesity, hormone disruption, cardiovascular disease, and early mortality.³³
- Bisphenols: Chemicals like bisphenol A (BPA) are basic building blocks for polycarbonate plastics and epoxy resins; they are also used as additives in PVC plastic and some kinds of synthetic textiles.³⁴ Bisphenols can cause cancer, reproductive harm, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes.³⁵

- Halogenated flame retardants: Added to plastic to reduce flammability, these chemicals are now global contaminants linked to cancer, reduced IQ, hyperactivity, and harm to wildlife.³⁶ While chemical flame retardants may sometimes be needed, fire safety can often be better achieved through alternative, less toxic means.³⁷
- UV-328 and related UV stabilizers: Used to protect plastic from UV light, these persistent, bioaccumulative, and toxic chemicals can cause liver and kidney damage and disrupt hormones.³⁸ UV-328 has been recommended for global phase-out under the Stockholm Convention.³⁹ UV-328 is also a member of a larger chemical class raising similar environmental concerns.
- Perchlorate: An antistatic agent used in plastic, perchlorate is a hormone disruptor that interferes with proper functioning of the thyroid gland. It has also been linked to impaired brain development.⁴⁰
- Benzophenone and related chemicals: This common UV-blocking plastic additive has been linked to cancer and hormone disruption and banned for some food contact uses.⁴¹ Several chemical derivatives of benzophenone pose health and aquatic toxicity concerns.⁴²
- Heavy metals: Heavy metals such as lead, mercury, cadmium, and hexavalent chromium are highly toxic compounds linked to a wide range of health conditions including impaired brain development, cardiovascular disease, and cancer.⁴³ Some heavy metals are used intentionally as catalysts, pigments, and stabilizers in plastic production; and in other cases heavy metals can contaminate the plastic production process.⁴⁴
- Nonylphenols: Nonylphenols are used as antioxidants, stabilizers, and plasticizers in many kinds of plastic products, including food containers.⁴⁵ They can migrate from these products into water and food; if ingested they can cause hormone disruption and impair fertility in humans, and they are highly toxic to aquatic life.⁴⁶
- Chlorinated paraffins: Chlorinated paraffins—persistent, bioaccumulative, toxic chemicals used as plasticizers and flame retardants—pose serious aquatic toxicity concerns.⁴⁷ Certain forms have already been banned, but others remain in use.⁴⁸
- Antimicrobials: Added to make plastic resistant to microbial growth, many antimicrobials are toxic and hazardous and can cause hormone disruption, skin sensitization, and aquatic toxicity. Some of the most concerning antimicrobials are triclosan, organotin compounds, arsenic compounds, and quaternary ammonium compounds.⁴⁹



A worker holding plastic pellets at a factory.

HIGH-PRIORITY PRODUCT DESIGNS THAT INTERFERE WITH RECYCLING

While some plastics such as the polymers identified above are not readily recyclable, other types of plastics are. Yet, among these recyclable plastics, there are products whose design interferes with the ability to safely and readily recycle them. The product designs below are unnecessary and cause the entire product to not be recycled or cause contamination of recycled plastic.

- Non-detectable pigments added to plastic: Black plastic can't be recognized by the sorting equipment used by most recycling facilities; even when sorted it has a limited resale market and is of very low value. Virtually all black plastic, therefore, ends up being landfilled or incinerated.⁵⁰ Some other dark-colored plastics face the same issues.⁵¹ Additionally, the plastic coloring agent known as "carbon black" is carcinogenic when inhaled and is a major source of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), also carcinogens, in plastic.⁵² Non-detectable pigments such as carbon black are listed as problematic/ unnecessary by the Plastic Pacts in the United States, France, Poland, Portugal, and the United Kingdom.
- Packaging made from PETG: Polyethylene terephthalate glycol (PETG) is a plastic used in packaging that is similar to, but distinct from, the polyethylene terephthalate (PET) that is commonly used in single-use soda and water bottles. Separating the two plastics during recycling is difficult. Because its melting point is different from that of traditional PET, PETG contamination decreases recycled PET quality and disrupts recycling equipment.⁵³ It is listed as problematic/unnecessary by Plastic Pacts in the United States and Kenya.
- Opaque or pigmented PET bottles: Since recycling markets are strong only for clear PET, recyclers typically discard colored and opaque bottles, which then get sent to landfills or incinerators. These bottles are listed as problematic/unnecessary by Plastic Pacts in the United States and France.
- Problematic label chemistries: Labels made from certain materials including PVC and PETG can create issues for recycling, decreasing recycled plastic quality and sometimes creating harmful by-products.⁵⁴ Even tiny concentrations of PVC can lead to toxic benzene contamination in recycled PET, for example.⁵⁵ These labels are listed as problematic/unnecessary by Plastic Pacts in the United States and Kenya.



A group enjoying a zero-waste picnic using reusable foodware.



A young adult with a reusable bag buying vegetables at a market.

ALTERNATIVES EXIST FOR HIGH-PRIORITY PLASTICS, Additives, and products

Safer alternatives are available for many uses of the very worst plastic materials, additives, and products. Below are just a few examples of how elimination is indeed possible:

PVC: Several countries and many corporations have banned or restricted the use of PVC in packaging, demonstrating that safer alternative materials are available and already in use.⁵⁶ Many safer and affordable alternatives also exist for the toxic PVC flooring being marketed as "luxury vinyl tile" such as linoleum and ceramic tile.⁵⁷

PFAS: The European Union has identified safer alternatives for many uses of PFAS in plastic and has proposed banning all forms of PFAS, including plastic processing aids and PFAS-based polymers.⁵⁸

Single-use plastics: Nontoxic reuse and refill systems are replacing certain types of single-use plastics, especially in food packaging and foodware, and we need to expand these systems.⁵⁹ Important reductions in single-use plastic can also be achieved through the elimination of unnecessary packaging.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

To protect the health of communities on the front lines of plastic production and disposal, as well as the general public, wildlife, and ecosystems, we need mandates on the international, federal, state, and local policy levels that stem the tide of plastic production, starting with phasing out the high-priority targets identified here. Policies at all levels should aim to:

- Reduce and eliminate where possible production and use of single-use plastics
- Ban high-priority problematic plastic materials, additives, and product designs in favor of safer alternatives
- End government purchasing of single-use plastics
- Prioritize plastic reduction over increased plastics recycling
- Promote nontoxic refill and reuse systems
- Invest in research on chemicals and materials that are safe and sustainable by design
- Mandate full product and chemical transparency for plastics
- Prohibit misleading recyclability and degradability claims

Implementing these policies will start to transform our systems of materials production, use, and disposal from those that harm communities and the environment to those that instead support people's health and ability to thrive.

APPENDIX: SUMMARY OF COMPONENTS DEEMED TO BE PROBLEMATIC/UNNECESSARY BY NATIONAL PLASTIC PACTS

	National Plastic Pacts							
Problematic/Unnecessary Plastics, Additives, Products, and Product Designs	United States	Chile	France	Kenya	Poland	Portugal	South Africa	United Kingdom
Polyvinyl chloride (PVC)	х	х	x	x	х	х	х	х
Polystyrene	х	х	х	х	х	х		х
Intentionally added PFAS	х							
Single-use plastics	Х	х	X	х	х	x	х	х
"Oxo-degradable" plastics	Х			х		x	х	х
Intentionally added microplastics							х	
Non-detectable pigments	х		x		x	x		x
PETG in rigid packaging	х			х				
Opaque or pigmented PET bottles	х		x					
Problematic label chemistries	Х			х				

Source: Ellen MacArthur Foundation.⁶⁰

ENDNOTES

- 1 National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine, *Reckoning With the U.S. Role in Global Ocean Plastic Waste*, 2021, https://www.nap.edu/ catalog/26132/ reckoning-with-the-us-role-in-global-ocean-plastic-waste.
- 2 Chris Wilcox, Erik Van Sebille, and Britta Hardesty, "Threat of Plastic Pollution to Seabirds Is Global, Pervasive, and Increasing," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112, no. 38 (August 31, 2015): 11899–11904, https://www.pnas.org/doi/10.1073/pnas.1502108112.
- 3 Juliano Calil et al., Neglected: Environmental Justice Impacts of Marine Litter and Plastic Pollution, United Nations Environment Programme, 2021, https://wedocs.unep.org/handle/20.500.11822/35417.
- 4 National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, *Reckoning with the U.S. Role in Global Ocean Plastic Waste*, The National Academies Press, 2022, https://doi.org/10.17226/26132.
- 5 National Ocean Service, "What Are Microplastics?" accessed August 10, 2023, https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/ microplastics.html; California State Policy Evidence Consortium, *Microplastics Occurrence, Health Effects, and Mitigation Policies: An Evidence Review for the California State Legislature*, 2023, https://uccs.ucdavis.edu/calspec/2022-research-topic; Philip J. Landrigan et al., "The Minderoo-Monaco Commission on Plastics and Human Health," *Annals of Global Health* 89, no. 1 (2023), https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36969097/.
- 6 Tridibesh Dey et al., "Global Plastic Treaty Should Address Chemicals," Science 378, no. 6622 (2022): 841-842, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adf5410.
- 7 Anna Reade, "The Essential-Use Approach: A Policy Tool for Reducing Exposures to Toxic Chemicals," NRDC, January 31, 2023, https://www.nrdc.org/resources/ essential-use-approach-policy-tool-reducing-exposures-toxic-chemicals; Simona A. Bălan et al., "Optimizing Chemicals Management in the United States and Canada through the Essential-Use Approach," *Environmental Science & Technology* 57, no. 4 (January 2023): 1568–1575, https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs. est.2c05932.
- 8 U.S. Plastics Pact, "What Is the U.S. Plastic Pact?," 2023, https://usplasticspact.org/about; Ellen MacArthur Foundation, "The Plastics Pact Network," accessed May 17, 2023, https://ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/the-plastics-pact-network.
- 9 Ellen MacArthur Foundation, "The Global Commitment 2022," accessed June 30, 2023, https://ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/global-commitment-2022/overview; Greenpeace, "Big Brands Fail Their Own Voluntary Commitment to Eliminate Plastic Pollution," November 1, 2022, https://www.greenpeace.org/usa/news/bigbrands-fail-their-own-voluntary-commitment-to-eliminate-plastic-pollution.
- 10 Toxic-Free Future, "PVC Poison Plastic," April 2023, https://toxicfreefuture.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Report-PDF-PVC-Poison-Plastic-Investigation-4. pdf; Kala Senathirajah et al., "Polymer Prioritization Framework: A Novel Multi-Criteria Framework for Source Mapping and Characterizing the Environmental Risk of Plastic Polymers," *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 429 (May 5, 2022): 128330, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2022.128330.
- Sarah Gibbens, "The Sticky Problem of Plastic Wrap," National Geographic, July 2019, https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/article/story-of-plastic-sticky-problem-of-plastic-wrap; Akio Yasuhara, Takeo Katami, and Takayuki Shibamoto, "Formation of Dioxins from Combustion of Polyvinylidene Chloride in a Well-Controlled Incinerator," Chemosphere 62, no. 11 (2005): 1899–1906, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.07.032.
- 12 Sarah Janssen, "Congress Must Protect People from Toxic Chemicals Known to Cause Harm: Vinyl Chloride," NRDC, July 2010, https://www.nrdc.org/sites/ default/files/vinylChloride.pdf; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Vinyl Chloride and Health FAQ," May 31, 2023, https://www.epa.gov/system/files/ documents/2023-06/Vinyl-Chloride-and-Health-FAQ-Document-5-31-508.pdf; Gibbens, "The Sticky Problem of Plastic Wrap"; Yasuhara, Katami, and Shibamoto, "Formation of Dioxins from Combustion."
- 13 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "East Palestine, Ohio Train Derailment," https://www.epa.gov/east-palestine-oh-train-derailment; Brenda Goodman, "Experts Question Decision to Vent and Burn Toxic Vinyl Chloride from Derailed Tankers in East Palestine, Ohio," CNN, June 23, 2023, https://www.cnn. com/2023/06/23/health/east-palestine-ntsb-hearing/index.html#:~:text=Experts%20called%20by%20the%20US,explode%20%E2%80%93%20calling%20into%20 question%20the.
- 14 National Toxicology Program, "Styrene, CAS No. 100-42-5," 15th Report on Carcinogens, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2021, https://ntp.niehs. nih.gov/ntp/roc/content/profiles//styrene.pdf.
- 15 Andrew Turner, "Foamed Polystyrene in the Marine Environment: Sources, Additives, Transport, Behavior, and Impacts," *Environmental Science & Technology* 54, no. 17 (2020): 10411–10420, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c03221.
- 16 Cyrene J. Catenza et al., "A Targeted Review on Fate, Occurrence, Risk and Health Implications of Bisphenol Analogues," *Chemosphere* 268 (April 2021): 129273, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.129273; Michael Thoene et al., "Bisphenol S in Food Causes Hormonal and Obesogenic Effects Comparable to or Worse than Bisphenol A: A Literature Review," *Nutrients* 12, no. 2 (2022): 532. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12020532.
- 17 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Methylene Diphenyl Diisocyanate (MDI) And Related Compounds Action Plan," RIN 2070-ZA15, April 2011, https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015-09/documents/mdi.pdf.
- 18 National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, "Isocyanates," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, accessed May 17, 2023, https://www.cdc.gov/ niosh/topics/isocyanates/default.html.
- 19 National Toxicology Program, "Formaldehyde, CAS No. 50-00-0," in *15th Report on Carcinogens*, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2021, https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/sites/default/files/ntp/roc/content/profiles/formaldehyde.pdf.
- 20 Katrina Krämer, "Reusable Bamboo Mugs Leach Dangerous Amounts of Formaldehyde and Melamine," *Chemistry World*, December 20, 2019, https://www. chemistryworld.com/news/reusable-bamboo-mugs-leach-dangerous-amounts-of-formaldehyde-and-melamine/4010950.article.
- 21 Environmental Working Group, "Wildlife Warning: More than 330 Species Contaminated with 'Forever Chemicals," February 22, 2023. https://www.ewg.org/ news-insights/news/2023/02/wildlife-warning-more-330-species-contaminated-forever-chemicals.
- 22 European Chemicals Agency, Annex XV Restriction Report Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs), 2023, https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/ f605d4b5-7c17-7414-8823-b49b9fd43aea.
- 23 Margareta Wahlström et al., Fluorinated Polymers in a Low Carbon, Circular and Toxic-Free Economy, Eionet Report -ETC/WMGE 2021/9, European Environment Agency, 2021, https://www.eionet.europa.eu/etcs/etc-cm/products/etc-cme-and-etc-wmge-report-9-2021-fluorinated-polymers-in-a-low-carboncircular-and-toxic-free-economy; Gunnar Myhre et al., "Anthropogenic and Natural Radiative Forcing," in Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2013): 659–740.
- 24 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "EPA Releases Data on Leaching of PFAS in Fluorinated Packaging," accessed May 18, 2023, https://www.epa.gov/ pesticides/epa-releases-data-leaching-pfas-fluorinated-packaging; Heather Whitehead and Graham Peaslee, "Directly Fluorinated Containers as a Source of Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylic Acids," *Environmental Science & Technology Letters* 10, no. 4 (2023): 350–355, https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.estlett.3c00083.
- 25 United Nations Environment Programme, "Our Planet Is Choking on Plastic," accessed May 18, 2023, https://www.unep.org/interactives/beat-plastic-pollution.

- 26 Ibid.
- 27 European Commission, "Report from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council on the Impact of the Use of Oxo-Degradable Plastic, Including Oxo-Degradable Plastic Carrier Bags, on the Environment," January 16, 2018, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52018DC0035.
- 28 Ibid.
- 29 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Frequently Asked Questions about Plastic Recycling and Composting," accessed May 18, 2023, https://www.epa.gov/ trash-free-waters/frequently-asked-questions-about-plastic-recycling-and-composting.
- 30 NRDC, "Plastic Peril: The Widespread and Devastating Impacts of Plastic Pollution on Our Oceans," October 2020, https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/ plastic-peril-oceans-pollution-fs.pdf.
- 31 European Chemicals Agency, "Microplastics," accessed June 14, 2023, https://echa.europa.eu/hot-topics/microplastics.
- 32 Helene Wiesinger, Zhanyun Wang, and Stefanie Hellweg, "Deep Dive into Plastic Monomers, Additives, and Processing Aids." *Environmental Science & Technology* 55, no. 13 (July 2021): 9339–9351, https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.est.1c00976.
- 33 Leonardo Trasande, Buyun Liu, and Wei Bao, "Phthalates and Attributable Mortality: A Population-Based Longitudinal Cohort Study and Cost Analysis," *Environmental Pollution* 292, Part A (January 1, 2022): 118021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.118021.
- 34 Hohenstein Americas, "New Testing in the U.S. Shows High Levels of BPA in Socks," accessed June 14, 2023, https://www.hohenstein.us/en-us/news/topics/bpain-socks.
- 35 Catenza et al., "A Targeted Review."
- 36 Susan Shaw, "Halogenated Flame Retardants: Do the Fire Safety Benefits Justify the Risks?" *Reviews on Environmental Health* 25, no. 4 (2010): 261–306, https://doi.org/10.1515/reveh.2010.25.4.261.
- 37 Ibid.
- 38 Persistent Organic Pollutants Review Committee, UV-328 Risk Management Evaluation, 2nd draft, Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, 2022, https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/1e3c75bd-5cfl-2a93-5391-75df065a07a7; International Pollution Elimination Network, "U.N. Expert Committee Takes Action on Toxic Plastics Additives, Pesticides, and Two Groups of Industrial Chemicals," January 28, 2022, https://ipen.org/news/un-expert-committee-takesaction-toxic-plastics-additives-pesticides-and-two-groups-industrial.
- 39 Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, "Recommendation by the Persistent Organic Pollutants Review Committee to List UV-328 in Annex A to the Convention and Draft Text of the Proposed Amendment," November 25, 2022, UNEP/POPS/COP.11/14, http://chm.pops.int/TheConvention/ ConferenceoftheParties/Meetings/COP11/tabid/9310/Default.aspx; Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, "Eleventh meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the Stockholm Convention," May 2023, https://chm.pops.int/TheConvention/ConferenceoftheParties/Meetings/COP11/tabid/9310/Default.aspx; Australian National Industrial Chemicals Notification and Assessment Scheme, "Phenolic Benzotriazoles: Environment Tier II Assessment," June 30, 2017, https://www.industrialchemicals.gov.au/sites/default/files/Phenolic%20benzotriazoles_%20Environment%20tier%20II%20assessment.pdf; U.S. National Toxicology Program, "Nomination Summary for Octrizole and Related Phenolic Benzotriazoles," accessed May 18, 2023, https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/getinvolved/ nominate/summary/mn-n21204.html.
- 40 Craig Steinmaus, Public Health Goal: Perchlorate in Drinking Water, California Environmental Protection Agency Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, 2015, https://oehha.ca.gov/media/downloads/water/chemicals/phg/perchloratephgfeb2015.pdf; Maricel V. Maffini, Leonardo Trasande, and Thomas G. Neltner, "Perchlorate and Diet: Human Exposures, Risks, and Mitigation Strategies," Current Environmental Health Reports 3, no. 2 (2016): 107–117, https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-016-0090-3.
- 41 Maine Department of Environmental Protection, "Toxic Chemicals in Food Packaging: Food Contact Chemicals of High Concern Criteria Documentation," December 2021, https://www.maine.gov/dep/safechem/packaging/Listing-Criteria-for-Chemicals-in-Food-Packaging_Dec2021.pdf; Oregon Health Authority, "High Priority Chemicals of Concern for Children's Health," accessed May 18, 2023, https://www.oregon.gov/oha/ph/healthyenvironments/healthyneighborhoods/ toxicsubstances/pages/childrens-chemicals-of-concern.aspx.
- 42 Andromachi A. Gavrila et al., "Benzophenones in the Environment: Occurrence, Fate and Sample Preparation in the Analysis," *Molecules* 28, no. 3 (2023): 1229. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28031229.
- 43 Occupational Safety and Health Administration, "Toxic Metals," accessed August 22, 2023, https://www.osha.gov/toxic-metals.
- 44 Ebrahim M. Aghaee et al., "Effects of Storage Time and Temperature on the Antimony and Some Trace Element Release from Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) into the Bottled Drinking Water," *Journal of Environmental Health Science and Engineering* 12, no. 133 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40201-014-0133-3; Andrew Turner and Montserrat Filella, "Hazardous Metal Additives in Plastics and Their Environmental Impacts," *Environment International* 156 (November 2021): 106622, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106622.
- 45 Jorge E. Loyo-Rosales et al., "Migration of Nonylphenol from Plastic Containers to Water and a Milk Surrogate," *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 52, no. 7 (2004): 2016–2020, https://doi.org/10.1021/jf0345696.
- 46 Maine Department of Environmental Protection, "Toxic Chemicals in Food Packaging"; Jorge E. Loyo-Rosales et al., "Migration of Nonylphenol"; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Fact Sheet: Nonylphenols and Nonylphenol Ethoxylates," September 21, 2015, https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managingchemicals-under-tsca/fact-sheet-nonylphenols-and-nonylphenol-ethoxylates.
- 47 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Risk Management for Short-Chain Chlorinated Paraffins," September 21, 2015, https://www.epa.gov/assessing-andmanaging-chemicals-under-tsca/risk-management-short-chain-chlorinated-paraffins.
- 48 Ibid.
- 49 United Nations Environment Programme, Chemicals in Plastics A Technical Report, May 3, 2023, 15, https://www.unep.org/resources/report/chemicals-plastics-technical-report.
- 50 Emma Charlton, "Why Is Black Plastic So Hard to Recycle?" World Economic Forum, December 16, 2019, https://www.weforum.org/agenda/ 2019/12/black-plastic-recycling-supermarkets-waste.
- 51 Pont Green, "Impact of Carbon Black Pigment on the Recycling Process," May 3, 2021, https://mygreenpackaging.com/impact-of-carbon-black-pigment-on-therecycling-process.
- 52 California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, "Chemical Listed Effective February 21, 2003 as Known to the State of California to Cause Cancer: Carbon Black," February 21, 2003, https://oehha.ca.gov/proposition-65/crnr/chemical-listed-effective-february-21-2003-known-state-california-cause-cancer; Josepha Barrero et al., *Migration of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) from Plastic and Rubber Articles*, European Commission Joint Research Centre, 2018, https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/ bitstream/JRC111476/kjna29282enn.pdf.

53 Plastic Waste Coalition of Action, *The Golden Design Rules*, Consumer Goods Forum, 2023, https://www.theconsumergoodsforum.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/CGF-PWCoA_Golden-Design-Rules-Fact-Pack-v2-feb23-1.pdf.

- 55 Patnarin Benyathiar et al., "Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) Bottle-to-Bottle Recycling for the Beverage Industry: A Review," *Polymers* 14, no. 12 (2022): 2366, https://doi.org/10.3390/polym14122366.
- 56 Center for Health, Environment & Justice, "PVC Policies Across the World," 2016, https://chej.org/wp-content/uploads/PVC-Policies-Across-the-World-REP-027. pdf.
- $57 \qquad \text{Healthy Building Network, "Home Free: Flooring Product Guidance," accessed June 21, 2023, https://homefree.healthy building.net/products/1-flooring.}$
- 58 European Chemicals Agency, Annex XV Restriction Report.
- $59 \qquad {\rm Upstream, ``Reuse Research, ``accessed May 18, 2023, https://upstreamsolutions.org/research.}$
- 60 Ellen MacArthur Foundation, "The Plastics Pact Network."

⁵⁴ Ibid.